
DREFACH - FELINDRE

GRID REFERENCE: SN353385
AREA IN HECTARES: 127
Historic Background

A small area within modern Carmarthenshire comprising the generally steep-sided valleys of Nant Bargod and its tributaries, Nant Esgair and Nant Brân. Its character has chiefly been shaped by the 19th century woollen industry. The area lay within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Cantref Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100 when Emlyn Is-Cych commote, to the west, was reconstituted as the Lordship of Cilgerran. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych - none of which has any recorded history - but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s, and remained as such throughout the 12th- and early 13th centuries. The commote was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until it was finally annexed by the English crown in 1283. It formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire in 1536, when Is-Cych joined Pembrokeshire. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverting to the crown in 1525, to be then granted in 1546 to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. Indeed little settlement appears to have occurred within the Drefach-Felindre character area prior to the late 18th century, although medieval settlements were recorded at Cringae, now a farm, and at ‘Aberbargod’. 

As cloth was produced in many locations in southwest Wales during the medieval and early modern periods, it is likely that it was also produced at Drefach-Felindre, and the mill at Cringae in the 14th century may have been a fulling-mill. A small chapel-of-ease to Penboyr parish had been founded, within what was to become Felindre, by the early 18th century. Possibly a post-medieval foundation, Holy Trinity Chapel, also known as Capel Bach, was ‘dilapidated’ in 1750 and it was eventually replaced by St Barnabas’ Church in 1862. What is not clear is why during the course of the 19th century Drefach-Felindre became pre-eminent in woollen cloth production in Wales, leading to its appellation ‘the Huddersfield of Wales’. In the late 18th century four fulling mills at Pentre-cwrt, Dolwyon, Drefach and Cwmpencraig were established; other functions were carried out by hand, on a domestic basis or in small workshops. Carding factories were in production at Cwmpencraig and Dolwyon by the 1820s, and later factories had spinning machines. Concomitant with the increase in cloth production was the growth of settlements. In 1776 Felindre was just a few houses called Velindre Shinkin but by the tithe survey of c.1840 it had grown to a village of c. 20 houses. Drefach had about 20 houses and Drefelin 7 houses. No settlement is recorded at Waungilwen on the tithe map. Indeed the area of the latter village was common land, and it seems likely that the settlement originated with squatters illegally constructing houses. A similar process seems to have happened at Cwmhiraeth. 

The introduction of the power loom in the 1850s and greater reliance on water power and other power sources at a later date led to an expansion of the industry, with substantial mills (some employing 50-100 people) constructed at Drefach, Felindre, Drefelin, Cwmpengraig, Cwmhiraeth and Pentre-cwrt by the first decade of the 20th century. Settlement expanded to accommodate workers and other personnel, and it is the peak decades of the industry from 1880 to 1910 that have largely shaped the historic landscape. It is during this period that the population centres of Drefach and Felindre, with their worker houses, mill owner houses, shops, church and other places of worship were firmly established, as were secondary settlements such as Cwmpencraig and Cwmhiraeth, with their factories, mill owner houses, worker houses, and chapels clustered on narrow valley floors. The decline of the woollen industry from the 1920s is reflected in the historic landscape as few houses or other buildings date to the mid 20th century. However, late 20th century housing, particular linear development, has linked some of the former separate settlements, such as Drefach and Felindre with Waungilwen.

Description and essential historic landscape components

Small industrial settlements unite this oddly shaped historic character area. Its centre lies at approximately 50m above sea level at the confluence of Nant Bargod, Nant Esgair and Nant Brân where the steep-sided valleys of these north-flowing streams open out into the Teifi Valley, but it also includes upstream settlements and fields on the narrow valley floors rising to 90m above sea level. The motive power provided by these streams was a prime reason for the growth of the woollen industry, and neither the factories nor the associated settlements have expanded far from the valley floor. Up to the mid 20th century the villages and hamlets constituting this character area maintained a degree of physical separation, although united in function and character, but since then residential development has joined the two main settlements – Drefach and Felindre – with Waungilwen. The hamlets of Drefelin, Cwmpengraig, Cwmhiraeth and Glyn-teg, lying in the steep-sided valleys, have experienced less recent development and have maintained their individual character. The villages and hamlets are linear, spreading along the valley floors or alongside roads. There is now no particular focus to these settlements, and former clustering of houses around individual mills or other buildings such as chapels has been subsumed into the overall settlement pattern. 

Drefach is the largest village and is described first as it contains most of the elements that can also be seen in the other villages and hamlets. This is overwhelmingly a 19th century industrial settlement. Mills here range from substantial two storey structures of stone and brick such as the integrated Cambrian Mills (now part of the National Museum and Galleries of Wales) mainly built in the first decade of the 20th century, to weaving sheds/workshops attached to houses or incorporated into them as attics or upper storeys, such as Pantglas and Llwynbrain House (these houses and the Cambrian Mills are listed). Other listed buildings at Drefach comprise a mid 19th century chapel, mills and large, detached, late 19th century houses of the middle classes and mill owners, such as Greenfield, Bargoed Villa and Meiros Hall. Most houses are not listed and consist of 19th century worker houses. Many styles are present, but two-storey terraces with little architectural pretension predominate, with both single period - single style terraces and mixed style – multi build terraces. They are probably the result of housing provision by mill owners or speculative building by landowners. Most lie in the broad Georgian vernacular tradition, with relatively large sash windows and symmetrically arranged facades. Some Gothic detailing is present on some dwellings and a row of mid-18th century two-storey vernacular cottages lies in the centre of the village. Stone – both locally-sourced and Teifi valley slate - is the dominant building material. Teifi valley slate is cut and laid in courses on the larger houses, such as Greenfield, but more commonly stone is used as uncoursed rubble on workers cottages and other buildings. The use of yellow brick and to a lesser extent red brick for door and window jambs and voussoirs provides a distinct character to many buildings. Shaped stone voussoirs are also present. Cement render with colour-wash is also common, particularly on early 20th century buildings.Some of these may be of brick, although the use of brick for the entire building prior to the early 20th century is not common. Commercially cut north Wales slate is ubiquitous. Development continued throughout the 20th  century, with examples of 1930 to 1950 suburban style houses on the outskirts of the village and infilling vacant spaces within the village itself. House building continues today, and the village of Drefach is now linked to Felindre by 20th century bungalows and houses. 

Felindre shares many of the characteristics of Drefach. It has listed woollen mills, terraced worker houses and larger middle class or mill owner houses. St Barnabas’, the communities’ Anglican church which is in mid-19th century gothic style, and the 19th century school, are located here. An early chapel at Felindre, Capel Pen-rhiw, was converted from a barn in 1777. A classic of the ‘primitive’ type of chapel architecture, it was moved to the Museum of Welsh Life at St Fagans in the late 20th century. Velindre House opposite the church may have 18th century origins, in which case it predates other buildings in the area, although externally it appears to be a rubble built two- storey 19th century house. As with Drefach late 20th century linear development links the village with that of its neighbours. 

The oldest part of Waungilwen consists of terraces of 19th century vernacular terraced worker houses and detached worker houses, including some single storey cottages. Drefelin has a listed stone built mill, on the site of an older mill, and a terrace of 19th century worker houses running along the valley floor. Further up the valley at Glyn-teg is a 19th century chapel, a farm and a short terrace of 19th century single storey worker cottages. Squeezed into the narrow valley floor at Cwnpengraig is a chapel, woollen mill and worker house, all of 19th century date. Cwmhiraeth is similarly confined. Here there is a loose cluster of 19th century two storey worker houses – detached, semi-detached and short terraces – single storey cottages and small-holdings and a three-storey disused mill. Teifi valley slate is the dominant building material. There is also a scatter of modern bungalows and houses. Within or alongside the fields of the valley floor, between the villages and hamlets, are other isolated mills, cottages, worker houses, mill owners’ houses, which almost all date to the later 19th century. Although predominantly domestic in appearance, many of these dwellings have weaving sheds or workshops attached to them, although most are now in a derelict condition.

Of the 115 recorded archaeological sites in this area, the vast majority are buildings and structures as described above, with others relating to the woollen industry such as mill leats and ponds. There is very little pre 19th century recorded archaeology, and what there is – three holy wells – do not greatly characterise the area.

The tight grouping of buildings constructed from local stone in a broadly similar architectural style within a very short period from 1870 to 1910 provides a strong historic landscape character for Drefach – Felindre. It is therefore a very distinct historic landscape area, and contrasts with the woodland and farmland of neighbouring areas. However, many of the architectural traits – use of Teifi valley slate, a late 19th century style - of the industrial buildings are paralleled in the agricultural buildings of the neighbourhood.

Sources: Bowen, E G, 1939, ‘Economic and Social Life’, in J E Lloyd, A History of Carmarthenshire Volume II, From the Act of Union (1536) to 1900, 265-406, Cardiff; Cadw – database of Building of Special Architectural or Historic Interest; Carmarthen Record Office c/v 5885 Newcastle Emlyn Estate – The Property of John Vaughan 1778, map 76; Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Jack, R I, 1981, ‘Fulling Mills in Wales and the March before 1547’, Archaeologia Cambrensis 130, 70-125; Jenkins, J G, 1998 ‘Rural Industries in Cardiganshire’ in G H Jenkins and I G Jones, Cardiganshire County History Volume 3: Cardiganshire in Modern Times, 135-59, Cardiff; Jones , D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; Hilling, J B, 1975, The Historic Architecture of Wales, Cardiff; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llangeler parish tithe map 1839; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; National Library of Wales Ms Vol 84 (PE965) Plan of Llangeler, Penboyr and Kilrhedin Inclosure 1866; Ludlow, N, Wilson, H and Page, N, 2001, ‘Cambrian Mills, Drefach Felindre’, unpublished Cambria Archaeology client report; Penboyr parish tithe map 1840; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology 

DYFFRYN BARGOD AND DYFFRYN ESGAIR 

GRID REFERENCE: SN348367
AREA IN HECTARES: 171
Historic Background

A small area within modern Carmarthenshire consisting of the steep-sided valleys of Nant Bargod and its tributary Nant Esgair. It mainly comprises heavily-wooded valley slopes. The area lay within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Cantref Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100 when Emlyn Is-Cych commote, to the west, was reconstituted as the Lordship of Cilgerran. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych - none of which has any recorded history -  but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s, and it remained such throughout the 12th and early 13th centuries. It was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283. It eventually formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire, in 1536, when Is-Cych joined Pembrokeshire. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverting to the crown in 1525 to be granted, in 1546, to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. Indeed little settlement has occurred within this area, although the first large-scale cartographic representation of this area - estate maps of 1778 - show a lot less woodland than today, with more fields on steep valley sides. By the tithe survey of c. 1840 more woodland is shown, but it is still less than today. Since that date woodland has either regenerated over former fields or been planted. Since World War 2 coniferous woodland has been planted, either in small pockets between deciduous trees, or as more extensive cover on the higher slopes towards the southern part of this area.

Description and essential historic landscape components

This heavily wooded historic landscape character area lies on the steep valley sides of the north-flowing streams, Nant Bargod and Dyffryn Esgair. The lower valley sides at the northern end lie at about 50m above sea level. At the southern end the highest point of the valley sides rises to over 200m above sea level. Apart from a few fields of scrub and rough pasture, the whole is wooded. This is a mixture of deciduous woodland and coniferous plantations. Deciduous woodland predominates at the northern lower end of the character area on the valley sides above the villages and hamlets of Drefach, Felindre, Cwmpencraig and Drefelin, with coniferous plantations more common on the higher ground to the south. Some of the deciduous woodland is ancient, some may be relatively recent regeneration and some may be plantations.

There are no standing buildings in this area, but several ruined cottages associated with the Drefach – Felindre woollen industry are recorded on the Regional Sites and Monuments Record, as well as several mill leats that once fed woollen mills. Other archaeological sites are few, but include an Iron Age hillfort, and several old quarries of probable of 19th century date. 

This is a distinctive historic landscape character area. It contrasts sharply with the neighbouring agricultural character areas and industrial/settlement areas.

Sources: Cadw –Carmarthen Record Office c/v 5885 Newcastle Emlyn Estate – The Property of John Vaughan 1778; Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llangeler parish tithe map 1839; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Penboyr parish tithe map 1840; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

AFON TEIFI: NEWCASTLE EMLYN - LLANDYSUL

GRID REFERENCE: SN352401
AREA IN HECTARES: 388
Historic Background

A long, narrow area within modern Carmarthenshire and Ceredigion, comprising the rich, scenic floodplain of the lower Afon Teifi between Newcastle Emlyn to the west and Llandysul, to the east. It is almost entirely farmland, consisting of fairly large, often regular fields of pasture. The Teifi forms the boundary between the two counties but the medieval and later history of the area is similar in both. Both Cantref Emlyn (Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote) south of the river, and Cantref Is Aeron (Gwynionydd commote) north of the river remained in Welsh hands until the 13th century, with a brief period of Anglo-Norman control - and the establishment of numerous castles - between 1100 and 1136. The English crown finally annexed both areas in 1283, when the county of Cardiganshire was created; In 1536, Emlyn Uwch-Cych eventually formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire. Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement pattern within the region; this, and periodical flooding, have militated against major settlement within the area. However, some has occurred. The church at Llandyfrïog (Ceredigion), right on the riverbank, was already a parish church in 1291 and may have earlier origins (but was entirely rebuilt in the 19th century). It appears never to have been a focus for domestic settlement. The moated site at Henllys had been recorded by the 14th century (the name does not necessarily indicate particularly early origins), and a small number of farms - Ddôl, Berthyfedwen, Cwmisdwr and Bercoed Uchaf - were later established on the floodplain. The area would also have been more isolated than today during the historic period, as the two roads that now flank the floodplain - the A484 on the south side and the A475 to the north - are both former turnpike roads that were newly constructed in the late 18th century. The field pattern may have been largely established by the earlier post-medieval period, and estate maps and tithe maps show that this area has changed very little over the past 200 years. There has been a little loss of boundaries since estate maps were surveyed in 1778, and its clear from historic maps that in some areas the course of the river has changed. However, the construction of the ‘Carmarthen-Cardigan’ railway line through the area - opened under the Great Western Railway in 1895, but actually terminating at Newcastle Emlyn – once greatly contributed to the character of the area until it was closed in 1973. Its traffic was mainly locally produced textiles, with livestock, milk and timber.

Description and essential historic landscape components

This area consists entirely of the floodplain of the Afon Teifi between Newcastle Emlyn and Llandysul, a distance of approximately 12km. The average width of the floodplain is about 0.5km and it lies between 30m and 50m above sea level. Land-use is almost entirely improved pasture with a little unimproved pasture. Fields are medium- to large-size, fairly regular and separated by hedges. The hedges are rarely set on boundary banks, and the banks that are present are low. Hedges sometimes flank streams or drainage ditches. Many of the hedges are overgrown and this together with the numerous large hedgerow trees and occasional isolated standard, lends a ‘parkland’ aspect to parts of the landscape. Apart from Llandyfrïog church, there are no buildings, but two bridges cross the river where the valley narrows to c. 50m wide. Pont Henllan is an 18th century single arch bridge of Teifi valley slate with a date stone of 1774, and Allt-y-Cafan Bridge is also built of local stone with a single arch and a date stone of 1839. Both are listed buildings. Former turnpike roads – the A484, A486 and A475 - run along the edge of the floodplain for part of their courses, and in places cross it. Mortared walls flank these roads for short sections. The heavily wooded embankment of a dismantled railway that runs almost the entire length of the floodplain is a distinctive landscape element. A sports field, sewage works and caravan site have recently been established on the floodplain. Known archaeology  is limited to Henllys medieval moated settlement. 

The few built structures and the ‘parkland’ aspect of the historic landscape character area set it out from its neighbours. Its level nature, as opposed to the hilly land of the surrounding landscape, enables a hard-edge boundary to be drawn around it.

Sources: Gwili Railway, n.d., Guide to the Gwili Railway; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llandyfrïog parish tithe map1844; Llanfair Onllwyn parish tithe map 1844; Llangeler parish tithe map 1839; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Ludlow, N, 2000 ‘The Cadw Welsh Historic Churches Project: Ceredigion Churches’, unpublished Cambria Archaeology client report; Meyrick, S R, 1810, The History and Antiquities of Cardiganshire, London; National Library of Wales Rev J C Davies map book  1793 –1815; Penboyr parish tithe map 1840; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

COED MAWR

GRID REFERENCE: SN363392
AREA IN HECTARES: 140
Historic Background

A small area within modern Carmarthenshire comprising a pocket of 19th century Parliamentary enclosure, with regular rectangular fields, now mainly wooded. The area lay within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Cantref Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych - none of which has any recorded history - but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s, and remained such throughout the 12th  and early 13th centuries. It was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283. It eventually formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire, in 1536. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverting to the crown in 1525 to be granted, in 1546, to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. Indeed little settlement has occurred within this area, which during the post-medieval period, and probably earlier, was common land. On the 1839 tithe map this area is depicted as open unenclosed land, and named on the accompanying apportionment as Waun Fawr Common, in the ownership of Earl Cawdor. The tithe map evidence suggests that the fringes of this common had recently been encroached upon and enclosed. In 1855, a Parliamentary Enclosure Award was granted for 138 acres of common and waste, then called Waunmeiros. The outcome of this award – regularly shaped fields and a straight section of road - is shown on the First Edition Ordnance Survey map surveyed in 1887. The field pattern established in 1855 prevails today. A small woodland plantation was established by 1887, and today land is under.a mixture of woodland and pasture..

Description and essential historic landscape components

This relatively small historic landscape area, lying across gently undulating ground between 60m and 89m, is not now greatly different from its neighbouring landscapes, but it has a distinct and well-documented recent landscape history. The current pattern of regular, relatively small fields separated by hedges on earth banks dates from 1855, following a Parliamentary Enclosure Act. A straight section of road crossing the area is typical of Parliamentary enclosure. A small deciduous plantation was established by 1887 and subsequently many other fields have reverted to or have been planted with deciduous woodland. This woodland and the overgrown nature of the hedges lends a heavily wooded aspect to the landscape. Land quality does not appear as good as that in neighbouring areas as there is much unimproved pasture and damp rushy ground. There are no dwellings or other buildings, and no recorded archaeological sites.

Regular fields, woodland and the absence of buildings distinguish this area from its neighbours.  Apart from these elements, the general landscape character is not dissimilar from the rest of this part of rural north Carmarthenshire.

Sources: Chapman, J, 1992, A Guide to Parliamentary Enclosures in Wales, University of Wales Press, Cardiff; Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llangeler tithe map, 1839; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Ordnance Survey 1:2500 First Edition, c.1880; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology 

LLANGELER

GRID REFERENCE: SN379376
AREA IN HECTARES: 1069
Historic Background

A fairly large area within modern Carmarthenshire consisting of dispersed farms, fields and scattered woodland stands. It lies within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Cantref Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100 when Emlyn Is-Cych commote, to the west, was reconstituted as the Lordship of Cilgerran. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych - none of which has any recorded history - but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s, and remained such throughout the 12th and early 13th centuries. It was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283. In 1536, it eventually formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire, when Is-Cych joined Pembrokeshire. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverted to the crown in 1525, and was then granted, in 1546, to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. 

The southern part of this area appears to have formed part of the medieval Garth Gywddyll Forest that stretched away to the southeast, and was presumably unfarmed, unenclosed land. However, the northeast part of this character area, east of Pentre-cwrt, belonged to a different landholding and tenurial regime, having been part of Maenor Forion Grange. This grange was established during the second half of the 12th century, when the land was granted to the Cistercian Whitland Abbey by the sons of the local Welsh lord Maredudd of Cilrhedyn. Its nucleus appears to have been at Court Farm, where a granary was present, and which was apparently a summer retreat for the abbot. Two mills, a corn mill and a fulling-mill (part of the leat of which can be traced) were located on the Afon Siedi at Geulan Felen, demonstrating that the abbey was possibly an early pioneer in the cloth industry that would come to dominate other parts of this Register Area. The grange chapel lay just outside this character area, probably on the same site as the present St Mary’s, a chapel-of-ease to Llangeler parish. The early medieval Decabarbalom Stone, found near the chapel, suggests earlier origins. It is associated with a motte, ‘Pencastell’, which may have been an earlier grange nucleus. Otherwise, we know little of the land-use within the grange, as Maenor Forion was one of the very few Welsh granges not to be subject to an Exchequer Proceeding (Equity) after the Dissolution, from which much of our knowledge of grange management is derived. Most of Whitland’s estates were held, at the Dissolution, under various leases, tenurial systems, rents and obligations belonging to Welsh law. In general, the abbey’s Carmarthenshire properties paid money rents, and contributions of cheese, capons and oats, while the Ceredidion properties made contributions of wool, sheep and lambs. However, it is far from clear whether or not these arrangements perpetuate long-standing arrangements of earlier origin. Nevertheless, the survival of a diversity of rents, in both cash, kind and service, suggests that they correspond with earlier villein obligations, and it has therefore been suggested that Whitland exploited its granges along native lines from the first, and therefore land-use and settlement were probably similar inside and outside the grange. The grange became crown land at the Dissolution in 1536 and was sold during the reign of Charles I to John Lewis of Llysnewydd and Thomas Price of Rhydypennau, the latter’s portion passing onto D L Jones of Derlwyn. Apart from the disposal of small parts of the properties, the greater part of the former grange remained in these family hands until at least 1900, forming the core of two large estates. 

The present landscape throughout this character area mainly comprises medium-large regular, rectangular fields of late enclosure. They probably date from the late 18th century - although some of the individual farmsteads will probably be older - and appear to be contemporary with the present road system which follows the enclosure axis and boundaries. The present A484, which runs from north-south through the area, was built new as a turnpike road in the late 18th century. The first comprehensive map cover, the tithe map of 1839, shows a landscape not dissimilar to that of today. There are a few minor differences, such as small blocks of strip fields close to Saron and some small pockets of unenclosed land. Both of are now regular fields. The only settlement clusters on the tithe map are at Llangeler, with approximately four dwellings, and Pentre-cwrt with c. 20 houses. Pentre-cwrt is possibly post medieval in orgin as is the nucleation at Llangeler, although it developed around a medieval church which was also the property of Whitland Abbey, the grant of which was confirmed by King John 1199-1216. Llangeler - also known as ‘Merthyr Celer’ - was a multiple church site, with a ‘capel-y-bedd’ (‘saint’s grave chapel’ or ‘founder’s grave chapel’) formerly lying south of the church. A well-chapel lay 150m northeast of the churchyard. Both the churchyard and the well-chapel may have occupied a very large circular outer enclosure represented by field boundaries. The ‘merthyr’ element is regarded as an indicator of early medieval origins.. 

Description and essential historic landscape components

Llangeler historic landscape character area lies on the undulating north-facing valley side of the Afon Teifi. Its northern edge borders the floodplain at about 50m above sea level from which the land rises gently to over 200m above sea level at the area’s southern boundary. It is an agricultural historic landscape character area consisting of dispersed farms, fields and scattered woodland stands. Agricultural land-use is almost entirely improved pasture. The hedges set on earth or earth and stone banks and which bound the medium-sized irregular fields are generally well maintained, but some are overgrown, and many have large trees in them. This creates a wooded aspect to the landscape in some parts of this area, especially where it occurs in combination with deciduous woodland on some of the minor, steep valley sides. Roads and lanes are narrow and winding and flanked by large hedgebanks, except for the two main north-south roads, the A484 and the A486. Stone is the main, and almost exclusive, building material in older structures. Generally Teifi valley slate is more common close to the Teifi  - laid as uncoursed rubble, but there are some examples where the stone has been cut and laid in courses - in the northern part of this area, with locally-sourced stone predominant elsewhere. 

Many of the houses are cement rendered and colour-washed, but where visible and on unrendered houses and agricultural buildings this is clearly over stone. Commercial north Wales slate is the common roofing material. There are few pre-19th century buildings. The majority of farmhouses date to the mid to late 19th century, and are in the typical southwest Wales style – two storey and three-bay with a central front door and five symmetrically arranged windows –a style that owes more to the polite Georgian tradition than the vernacular. Vernacular houses are present, such as the listed two storey, three bay example at Henfryn, but these are not common. More substantial, earlier, houses firmly in the Georgian Period and style, such as the listed examples at Tanyralltddu, Shadog and Penyrallt and the unlisted Rhydybennau, are also relatively rare. Penyrallt is a gentry house, with a home farm including several listed outbuildings, but is nevertheless relatively modest, with two storeys and three bays. Old agricultural outbuildings are of 19th century date, of bare stone, apart from a few later, brick examples, and in most instances of one or two ranges, set informally around the farmyard. There are examples of buildings in a more formal setting around a courtyard, perhaps indicating estate farms. Penyrallt with its separate home farm is of a higher social level than the other farms. Most functions are catered for in the farm outbuildings indicating a mixed arable/pasture economy in the 19th century. Working farms have modern steel and concrete outbuildings, but these are not on a large scale. Some mid 20th century corrugated iron round-headed barns survive on some farms. The hamlet of Llangeler, focused on the medieval church, is the only notable grouping of agricultural buildings, with 19th century farmhouses and buildings and several 19th century single storey worker cottages. Pentre-cwrt, the only other settlement cluster, is an old industrial settlement founded on the woollen industry. Several late 19th century stone built substantial mill buildings survive close to the village, at Llwynderw, Alltcafan and Henfryn. The village consists of a loose cluster of late 19th century two storey terraced, semi-detached and detached worker houses and single storey cottages with late 20th century houses and bungalows spreading along the approach roads. Dispersed late 19th century two storey worker houses, often in short terraces, can be found at several locations close to Pentre-cwrt and along the lower valley slopes close to the Teifi, such as Bwlchmelyn and Hannerfordd. 

There are over 45 recorded archaeological sites in this historic landscape character area. Most are of 19th century and later buildings, but other sites such as the Iron Age hillfort at Henfryn, the grange features and the multiple church complex at Llangeler provide time-depth to the landscape. None of these earlier archaeological sites, however, now strongly characterise the area.

Llangeler is not an easy historic landscape character area to define. To the west valley side woodland and industrial settlements provide good contrast and a hard boundary, as does the floodplain of the Teifi to the north, but elsewhere this area shares many of the characteristics of its neighbours and therefore the boundaries are a broad zone of change rather than hard-edged.

Sources: Cal. Patent Rolls, Elizabeth Vol. 2, 1560-1563, London 1948; Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Jack, R I, 1981, ‘Fulling Mills in Wales and the March before 1547’, Archaeologia Cambrensis 130, 70-125; Jones, A, 1937, ‘The Estates of the Welsh Abbeys at the Dissolution’, Archaeologia Cambrensis 92, 269-286; Jones, D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; Jones, E G, 1939, Exchequer Proceedings (Equity) concerning Wales, Cardiff; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llangeler parish tithe map 1839; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Ludlow, N, 2002 ‘The Cadw Early Medieval Ecclesiastical Sites Project, Stage 1: Carmarthenshire’, unpublished report by Cambria Archaeology; Ludlow, N D, forthcoming, ‘Whitland Abbey’, Archaeologia Cambrensis; National Library of Wales Vol 17 map book 1796; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology; Richard, A J, 1935, ‘Castles, Boroughs and Religious Houses’, in J E Lloyd, A History of Carmarthenshire Volume I, 269-371, Cardiff; Williams, D H, 1990, Atlas of Cistercian Lands in Wales, Cardiff

SARON - RHOS

GRID REFERENCE: SN379367
AREA IN HECTARES: 82
Historic Background

A small area within modern Carmarthenshire, comprising a narrow corridor either side of the present A484, which runs north-south through the surrounding character area of Llangeler. The road has been subject to 20th century ribbon development, between the two 19th century settlements of Saron and Rhos. The area lies within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Cantref Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100 when Emlyn Is-Cych commote, to the west, was reconstituted as the Lordship of Cilgerran. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych - none of which have any recorded history - but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s, and remained such throughout the 12th  and early 13th centuries. It was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283. In 1536, it eventually formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire, , when Is-Cych joined Pembrokeshire. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverted to the crown in 1525, and was granted in 1546 to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. Indeed, this character area represents one of the most built-up areas within Uwch-Cych, but the development is all of a very late date. In 1839, four buildings were recorded at Saron, close to the A484, which was a newly constructed as turnpike in the late 18th century. The buildings include Saron Chapel, established in 1792, which was clearly a primary feature and from which the settlement derives its name. The buildings are in a landscape of fields and dispersed farms, which follow the axis of the road and appear to be contemporary, late 18th century enclosure The landscape at Rhos is different. Here at the higher end of the character area close to open moorland a pattern of scattered cottages set in small irregular fields is seen. These were probably established as squatter settlements or tai unnos on the fringes of common land in the late 18th century or early 19th century. Settlement expanded gradually throughout the 19th century, and by the beginning of the 20th century a small church, an independent chapel and a Sunday school were established at Rhos, along with further dwellings at both Rhos and Saron. These settlements were then still very small. The last three decades of the 20th century have seen a rapid expansion of the settlements which has resulted in an almost continuous linear development of houses and bungalows along the old turnpike road/A484.

Description and essential historic landscape components

This is a roadside linear character area very much dominated by late 20th century housing, but with some older elements. It fringes the A484 road on gentle north-facing  slopes between 160m above sea level at Saron and up to 230m above sea level at Rhos. At Rhos there is a fairly tight distribution of late 19th century stone built, two storey cottages and houses. Some have small agricultural buildings attached or close to them indicating their agricultural origin. Stone is the traditional building material, with Teifi valley slate – laid as uncoursed rubble – more common at lower levels close to the Teifi, and locally-sourced stone more common at higher levels towards the southern end. Of the character area. Two small late 19th century chapels and a Sunday school are also located here. Modern housing, particularly bungalows, infills much of the space between the older house along the main road. Saron was originally focused on the main road where some of the older buildings including stone-built and cement rendered terraces of two storey worker cottages and a substantial late 19th century chapel can be found. A 20th century school is also located here. However, modern housing alongside the main road and on side lanes now dominates the settlement, forming virtually unbroken development on the A484 from Saron to Rhos. Although this area is chiefly non-agricultural, some agricultural historic landscape components are included including: Lleiniau, a late 18th century house with in-line outbuildings and an early 20th century house; farmhouses dating to the mid to late 19th century in the typical southwest Wales style – stone-built, two storey and three-bay with a central front door and five symmetrically arranged windows - associated with one or two ranges of stone outbuildings, and fields with hedges on earth banks. There is no recorded archaeology.
Saron – Rhos is defined by modern development. Modern housing, particularly in clusters or linear developments is rare in the neighbouring historic landscape character areas.

Sources: Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Jones, D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; Llangeler parish tithe map 1839; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

BWLCH-CLAWDD - CWMBACH

GRID REFERENCE: SN378345
AREA IN HECTARES: 270
Historic Background

This is a small area within modern Carmarthenshire, comprising a narrow strip on the northern flank of an east-west ridge. It comprises 18th - 19th century enclosure of open moorland. In common with similar landscapes elsewhere in southwest Wales, prehistoric monuments represent the main historic landscape component. Crugyddalfa and Cructarw, two Bronze Age burial mounds on its southern fringe - both of which were intentionally highly visible - give visual character and time-depth to the landacape character area. No contemporary field systems have so far been recognised. During the historic period, the area lay on the southern edge of the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100 when Emlyn Is-Cych commote, to the west, was reconstituted as the Lordship of Cilgerran. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych - none of which have any recorded history - but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s, and remained such throughout the 12th- and early 13th centuries. It was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283. In 1536, it eventually formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire,, when Is-Cych joined Pembrokeshire. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverting to the crown in 1525, and was granted in 1546 to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. Indeed, this character area was probably open moor until the mid 18th century. Its subsequent history is relatively well understood. Estate maps of 1778 show partially enclosed moorland. To its north lay farms and fields as today, and to the south open, high moor. Colonisation took place. For instance, at Penclawdd Uchaf in 1778 two cottages lay on unenclosed moor, but by 1839 fields had been created around these cottages. This colonisation of common, squatter settlements or tai unnos, was of dubious legality, but often tolerated. When Act of Parliament enclosed the remaining common of Llangeler and Penboyr in 1866 some of these settlements are marked as encroachments. Since that date there has been some retreat of settlement.

Description and essential historic landscape components

Bwlch-Clawdd – Cwmbach is a linear, east to west aligned, historic landscape character area lying on north-facing slopes between 210m and 270m immediately below a ridge summit. It is an agricultural character area characterised by small irregular fields, hedges on banks and dispersed farms. Agricultural land-use is almost entirely improved pasture, with little arable or poor quality land. Hedges on the earth and earth/stone banks are generally overgrown and straggling, and the many large bushes and small trees in them, in combination with deciduous woodland on some of the steep valley sides, provides a wooded aspect to parts of the landscape. Agricultural holdings are very small. Late 20th century bungalows and two-storey houses in a variety of styles and materials have replaced most of the earlier farmhouses, and there is some dispersed modern housing across the area. Occasional late 19th century cement rendered two storey vernacular dwellings survive, but are rare. Stone-built 19th century farm buildings are likewise unusual, and where they do occur they are small. Most farm outbuildings are modern and relatively small, although one farm has very substantial late 20th century steel, concrete and asbestos agricultural buildings. There are no listed buildings. Thirteen archaeological sites are recorded. Most of these are either quarries and sand pits of the 19th century and 20th century or buildings mentioned above. Two Bronze Age burial mounds demonstrate pre-19th century human activity in the area, as does the northern end of Clawdd-Mawr, an early medieval linear defensive earthwork.

This is a relatively well-defined historic landscape character area. Regular fields created by a 19th century enclosure award lie to the south and richer, larger farms on the lower-lying land to the north.

Sources: Carmarthen Record Office c/v 5885 Newcastle Emlyn Estate – The Property of John Vaughan 1778, maps 70, 85, 89, 92; Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Jones, D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llangeler parish tithe map 1839; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; National Library of Wales Ms Vol 84 (PE965) Plan of Llangeler, Penboyr and Kilrhedin Inclosure 1866; Penboyr parish tithe map 1840; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

RHOS PENBOYR

GRID REFERENCE: SN333336
AREA IN HECTARES: 1584
Historic Background

A large area within modern Carmarthenshire, comprising an extensive ridge of high ground separating the Teifi valley to the north from the Tywi valley to the south. It was open moorland, named ‘Mynydd Castell Newydd ‘on Emmanuel Bowen’s map of 1729 and was not enclosed until 1866. Historically, it presented a considerable barrier to travellers. Indeed its western end is named ‘Fose y Gelin’ by Bowen, with the warning ‘A Dangerous Bogg which Strangers ought to be cautious of Crossing in ye Winter Season without Guides’. In common with similar landscapes elsewhere in southwest Wales, the main historic landscape component is represented by prehistoric monuments; including 15 Bronze Age round barrows, which were intentionally highly visible - and still are, especially the three on the summit of Mynydd Moelfre at the west end of the area - and give both visual character and time-depth to the area. No contemporary field systems have so far been recognised, although a massive linear defensive bank known as Clawdd-Mawr, crossing the eastern end of the ridge, which is early medieval, but could be much earlier. 

During the historic period, the bulk of this area lay within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote which remained largely in Welsh hands until the 13th century. It was finally annexed by the English crown in 1283, and in 1536 formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire. The southern part of this character area is in Cantref Gwarthaf, Elfed commote. This was brought under Anglo-Norman control soon after the establishment of the royal castle at Carmarthen, in 1109-10, as part of the associated ‘Honour of Carmarthen’. In 1284, it became the core of the newly-formed County of Carmarthen. However, it represented the ‘Welshry’ of the lordship and county, and so a Welsh tenurial pattern persisted in both areas - with neither vills nor knight’s fees. This is largely responsible for the dispersed settlement pattern throughout the region. Indeed little settlement appears to have occurred within the Rhos Penboyr character area prior to the late 19th century. However, there is documentary evidence for lead and silver mining during the 16th and 17th centuries. 

Mynydd Moelfre was formal common land during the medieval period, and the entire character area is shown as open common - essentially moorland – on tithe maps of c. 1840, although by this date its lower-lying fringes had been encroached upon by squatters, cottages had been built and fields laid out. The greater portion of common, including most of this character area, was enclosed by Act of Parliament in 1866. Regular, relatively large fields were laid out, and soon after farms and cottages built. Later intervention has been limited, although a second defensive line, the Rhos-Llangeler Stop Line, was built across the ridge west of Clawdd Mawr during World War 2. Since the war, coniferous forestry plantations have been established over some of the fields, which with three massive wind-turbines - constructed in the early 21st century on Mynydd Moelfre - are now the most prominent landscape features of the area. 

Description and essential historic landscape components

Rhos Penboyr is an east-west aligned ridge, lying between 210m and 330m above sea level, forming the watershed between the Afon Teifi to the north and the Afon Tywi to the south. It is an agricultural landscape overlain in places by coniferous forestry plantation. The large regular fields and straight lanes are typical of a landscape created by Act of Parliament, in this instance in 1866. It is exposed and windswept, and consequently hedges on the earth boundary banks are either straggling lines of low bushes or non-existent. Post and wire fences are the chief stock-proof barriers. Apart from large coniferous forestry plantations, which are a major characteristic of this landscape, it is treeless. Agricultural land-use is improved pasture with occasional fields of unimproved grazing and pockets of heather/bracken moor. Farms are small and widely dispersed. Although most of the farms were established in the later 19th century, there are few buildings, either houses or farm outbuildings - that pre-date the second half of the 20th century. There are no listed buildings. Three massive turbines constructed in the early 21st century are prominent landscape features. Clawdd-Mawr defensive bank crosses the eastern end of the ridge. The World War 2 Rhos-Llangeler Stop Line is represented by anti tank cubes and pill boxes, and crosses the ridge further west. Other archaeological sites comprise over 15 Bronze Age round barrows, most of which are Scheduled Ancient Monuments, and the most prominent of which, on hilltops, are important historic landscape components and demonstrate pre-19th century use of the area. 

This is a relatively well-defined historic landscape character area that essentially corresponds to the land enclosed by Act of Parliament in 1866. There has been some blurring of the boundaries since then, owing, in particular, to the establishment of coniferous plantations, but nevertheless the historic boundaries still hold good.

Sources: Bowen E, 1729 A Map of South Wales; Cadw – database of Building of Special Architectural or Historic Interest; Carmarthen Record Office c/v 5885 Newcastle Emlyn Estate – The Property of John Vaughan 1778, map 54, 56; Conwil parish tithe map 1840; Jones, D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llangeler parish tithe map 1839; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; National Library of Wales Ms Vol 84 (PE965) Plan of Llangeler, Penboyr and Kilrhedin Inclosure 1866; Penboyr parish tithe map 1840; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

WAUNFAWR

GRID REFERENCE: SN382339
AREA IN HECTARES: 475
Historic Background

This is a small area within modern Carmarthenshire, lying at the eastern end of an extensive ridge of high ground separating the Teifi valley to the north from the Tywi valley to the south. On Emmanuel Bowen’s map of 1729 it is shown as open moorland under the name ‘Mynydd Castell Newydd’. Historically, it presented a considerable barrier to travelers. The area was not enclosed until 1866. In common with similar landscapes elsewhere in southwest Wales prehistoric monuments represent the main historic landscape component. Two Bronze Age burial mounds are situtated at its highest point - both of which were intentionally highly visible - give visual character and time-depth to the area. No contemporary field systems have been recognised. 

During the historic period, the bulk of this area lay within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote which remained largely in Welsh hands until the 13th century. It was finally annexed by the English crown in 1283, and in 1536 formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire. The southern part of this character area is in Cantref Gwarthaf, Elfed commote. This was brought under Anglo-Norman control soon after the establishment of the royal castle at Carmarthen, in 1109-10, as part of the associated ‘Honour of Carmarthen’. In 1284, it became the core of the newly-formed County of Carmarthen. However, it represented the ‘Welshry’ of the lordship and county, and so a Welsh tenurial pattern persisted in both areas - with neither vills nor knight’s fees . This is largely responsible for the dispersed settlement pattern throughout the region. Indeed little settlement appears to have occurred within the Waunfawr character area prior to the late 19th century. However, there is documentary evidence for lead and silver mining during the 16th and 17th centuries. 

The eastern half of this character area belonged to a different landholding and tenurial regime, as part of Maenor Forion Grange. The grange was established during the second half of the 12th century, when the land was granted to the Cistercian Whitland Abbey by the sons of the local Welsh lord Maredudd of Cilrhedyn. We know little of the land-use within the grange - Maenor Forion is one of very few Welsh granges not to have be subject to an Exchequer Proceeding (Equity) after the Dissolution, from which much of our knowledge of grange management is derived. Most of Whitland’s estates were held, at the Dissolution, under various leases, tenurial systems, rents and obligations belonging to Welsh law. In general, the abbey’s Carmarthenshire properties paid money rents, and contributions of cheese, capons and oats. The survival a diversity of rents, in both cash, kind and service, suggests that they correspond with earlier villein obligations. It has been suggested that Whitland exploited its granges along native lines from the first, and therefore land-use and settlement were probably similar within and outside the boundaries of the grange, with this part of the grange probably always having been open grazing. The grange became crown land at the Dissolution in 1536 and this part of it appears to have been disposed of at an early date. There is documentary evidence for lead and silver mining within this general region during the 16th and 17th centuries. 

The entire character area was still open common land  - essentially moorland – when the Llangeler tithe map was drawn up in 1839, although by this date its lower-lying fringes had been encroached upon by squatters, cottages built and fields established. Act of Parliament enclosed the greater portion of common, including most of this historic landscape character area, in 1866. Regular, relatively large fields were laid out, and soon after farms and cottages built. Since World War 2 a substantial coniferous forestry plantation has been established over part of the landscape; this has been excluded from this area.

Description and essential historic landscape components

Waunfawr is the eastern end of an east-west aligned ridge forming the watershed between the Afon Teifi to the north and the Afon Tywi to the south. It lies between 210m and 310m above sea level. It is an agricultural landscape. The large regular fields and straight lanes are typical of a landscape created by Act of Parliament, in this instance in 1866. It is exposed and windswept, and consequently hedges on the earth-and-stone boundary banks are either straggling lines of low bushes, or non-existent. Post-and-wire fences are the chief stock-proof barriers. The area is treeless, apart from small shelter-belts around dwellings. Agricultural land-use is improved pasture, with occasional fields of unimproved grazing. Farms are small and widely dispersed, but buildings are not a prominent characteristic of this area. Late 19th century stone-built farmhouses in the typical southwest Wales style – two storey and three-bay with a central front door and five symmetrically arranged windows- are present, as are 20th century houses. Some 19th century small, stone-built agricultural outbuildings are present, as are small ranges of recent buildings. There are no listed buildings. There are few archaeological sites, but of note are Bronze Age round barrows on the two highest points.   

This is a relatively well-defined historic landscape character area. It approximately corresponds to the land enclosed by Act of Parliament in 1866, minus a substantial forestry plantation.

Sources: Bowen E, 1729 A Map of South Wales; Cadw – database of Building of Special Architectural or Historic Interest; Cal. Patent Rolls, Elizabeth Vol. 2, 1560-1563, London 1948; Jones, A, 1937, ‘The Estates of the Welsh Abbeys at the Dissolution’, Archaeologia Cambrensis 92, 269-286; Jones, D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; Jones, E G, 1939, Exchequer Proceedings (Equity) concerning Wales, Cardiff; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llangeler parish tithe map 1839; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Ludlow, N D, forthcoming, ‘Whitland Abbey’, Archaeologia Cambrensis; National Library of Wales Ms Vol 84 (PE965) Plan of Llangeler, Penboyr and Kilrhedin Inclosure 1866; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology; Richard, A J, 1935, ‘Castles, Boroughs and Religious Houses’, in J E Lloyd, A History of Carmarthenshire Volume I, 269-371, Cardiff; Williams, D H, 1990, Atlas of Cistercian Lands in Wales, Cardiff

PENBOYR

GRID REFERENCE: SN353364
AREA IN HECTARES: 361
Historic Background

This is a small area within modern Carmarthenshire consisting of regular rectangular fields and dispersed farms. It lies within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Cantref Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100 when Emlyn Is-Cych commote to the west was reconstituted as the Lordship of Cilgerran. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych comote - none of which has any recorded history - but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s,  where it remained throughout the 12th  and early 13th centuries. A motte-and-bailey castle, ‘Tomen Llawddog’, was established within this character area, immediately next to Penboyr parish church, St Llawddog’s; and therefore the may be contemporary. It is not known whether they belong to the brief period of Anglo-Norman control, or are Welsh foundations of the later 12th century. However, the church dedication to St Llawddog may be later medieval, when his cult was still active in the area. The church was first recorded in 1222 when it was ‘restored’ to the Bishops of St Davids, to be counter-claimed by the crown. Its early parish status, along with its close relationship to the castle, suggests that the two represent a deliberate Anglo-Norman plantation. They may therefore represent the site of a failed vill. The castle, which has no recorded history, probably become disused at an early date. They never became the focus for any later settlement, nucleated or otherwise. 

Uwch-Cych commote was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283. In 1536 it formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverting to the crown in 1525, to be granted in 1546 to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. 

The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern - without (with the possible exception of Penboyr) neither vill nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. The present landscape throughout this character area mainly comprises medium-large, regular rectangular fields of late enclosure. They probably date from the mid-late 18th century - although some of the individual farmsteads will probably be older - and appear to be contemporary with the present road system which follows the enclosure axis and boundaries. The first large-scale historic maps of this area date to 1788 and show a landscape very similar to that of today. However the 1778 estate map of Ty Hen/Penlan Ganol hints at an earlier fieldscape. Here, in addition to the usual fairly regular field system that still prevails, intermixed strips or slangs are shown. However, they are probably not medieval, and are certainly not the formal, arable open field strips characteristic of Anglo-Norman tenure. Instead, the strips appear to represent grazing rights assigned to neighbouring farms and it would seem that at least part of this area was open land, under multiple-ownership grazing, which was undergoing enclosure in the late 18th century. By the tithe survey of 1840 the landscape is virtually identical to that of today, except for the loss of a few hedges. Although this character area lies beyond the main textile-producing area of the 19th century, there are records of weavers at several locations, presumably operating a cottage industry in cottages or small workshops. 

Description and essential historic landscape components

Penboyr historic landscape character area lies on the gently sloping north-facing valley side of the Afon Teifi between 120m and 260m above sea level. It is an agricultural landscape characterised by farms and small- to medium-sized, fairly regular fields. Farms are generally small with an unusually dense distribution. Boundaries consist of earth banks topped by hedges – Laburnum is contained in some hedges. At higher levels to the south of this area hedges are overgrown and in some instances reduced to straggling lines of bushes with many small trees, but in the more sheltered north they are in better condition. Stone is the main building material, in particular Teifi valley slate, which is usually of uncoursed rubble, but coursed with cut stone on better quality buildings. Commercial north Wales slate is the ubiquitous roofing material. All the older buildings date to the mid to later 19th century. Farmhouses are generally in the typical southwest Wales style – two-storey and three-bay with a central front door and five symmetrically arranged windows – but with strong vernacular traits, such as small window openings and low elevations, rather than in the more ‘polite’ Georgian tradition. There are exceptions to this, such as the two-storey, mid 19th century listed ‘Georgian’ house of cut and coursed Teifi valley stone at Penlanfawr. Some farmhouses have been rebuilt as bungalows in the late 20th century, and there is a scattering of other bungalows and houses across the area of a similar date. Late 19th century two storey and single storey worker houses are also present. Agricultural farm buildings are generally small, with older examples stone built, and modern ones of steel, concrete and asbestos. Some of the smaller farms are no longer engaged in agriculture and their outbuildings are disused. The medieval Penboyr parish church, which was entirely rebuilt in the 19th century, and the neighbouring Tomen Llawddog motte-and-bailey castle are the major archaeological sites in the area. The bailey of the castle is damaged and half the motte has been removed. Other recorded archaeology is mainly confined to sites, workshops and cottages that were engaged in the woollen industry in the 19th century.

It is a well-defined historic landscape area. To the west, north and east steep-sided heavily wooded valleys define it. To the south more irregular fields of 18th and 19th century form a zone of change rather than a hard-edged boundary.

Sources: Cadw – database of Building of Special Architectural or Historic Interest; Carmarthen Record Office c/v 5885 Newcastle Emlyn Estate – The Property of John Vaughan 1778, maps 70, 72,76, 80, 82, 87, 89; Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Jones, D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; King, D J C, 1988, Castellarium Anglicanum, New York; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Ludlow, N, 2000, ‘Spiritual and Temporal: Church-building in medieval and later Carmarthenshire’, Carmarthenshire Antiquary 36, 71-86; Ludlow, N, 2000, ‘The Cadw Welsh Historic Churches Project: Carmarthenshire churches’, unpublished report by Cambria Archaeology; Penboyr parish tithe map 1840; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

BWLCHYDOMEN - PENTRECAGAL

GRID REFERENCE: SN334381
AREA IN HECTARES: 1049
Historic Background

A fairly large area within modern Carmarthenshire consisting of dispersed farms, fields and scattered woodland stands. 

It lies within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Cantref Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100 when Emlyn Is-Cych commote to the west was reconstituted as the Lordship of Cilgerran. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych comote - none of which has any recorded history - but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s, where it remained throughout the 12th and early 13th centuries. A motte-and-bailey castle, ‘Tomen Seba’, was established within this character area. It has no recorded history and it is not known whether it belongs to the brief period of Anglo-Norman control, or was a Welsh foundation of the later 12th century. If it was Anglo-Norman, it is likely that it fell into disuse at an early date, and it never became the focus for any later settlement, nucleated or otherwise. 

Uwch-Cych commote was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283. In 1536 it formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverting to the crown in 1525, to be granted in 1546 to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern – with neither vills nor knight’s fees -  has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. 

Late 18th century estate maps show a few intermixed, unenclosed field strips on some holdings. However, they are probably not medieval in origin, and are certainly not the formal, arable open field strips characteristic of Anglo-Norman tenure. Instead, the strips appear to represent grazing rights assigned to neighbouring farms and it would seem that at least part of this area was open land, under multiple-ownership grazing, which underwent enclosure in the late 18th century. The present landscape, throughout the character area, mainly comprises medium-sized, fairly regular fields which, in shape and size, are characteristic of the earlier post-medieval period. Late 18th century estate maps show a landscape that is, except for the remnant field strips, similar to that of today. By the time the tithe map was drawn up in 1840 all these strips had gone. The tithe map also shows two small pockets of open land, Waungilwen Common and Cwmhiraeth Common. These are probably the remnants of unenclosed grazing land. This common land had presumably been extensive in earlier centuries, but had been enclosed piecemeal until virtually nothing remained by the mid 19th century. An Act of Parliament enclosed these last remnants in 1866. The only settlement cluster is at Pentrecagal, alongside the A484 at its junction with the unclassified road to Drefach-Felindre. It appears to be 19th century in origin, developing after the A484 had been built as a turnpike, in the late 18th century, in response to increasing traffic to and from woollen mills. The area lies beyond the main textile-producing area of the 19th century, but there are records of weavers at several locations within the area, presumably operating a cottage industry in  cottages or small workshops. This industry had ceased by the mid 20th century. 

Description and essential historic landscape components

Dispersed farms, fields surrounded by hedges and small pockets of deciduous woodland characterise this agricultural historic landscape character area. It lies on the gently-sloping north-facing valley side of the Afon Teifi. At its northern end it merges with the floodplain of the river at about 30m above sea level, but at its southern extremes it rises to over 260m above sea level. Agricultural land-use is almost entirely improved pasture, with very little arable or rough ground. Fields are medium-sized and irregular and are bounded by earth banks topped with hedges. Hedges are generally well maintained, but with a tendency to become straggling and overgrown at the higher more exposed southern borders, and lusher with more trees and larger bushes at lower, sheltered elevations. Woodland is mainly confined to the steeper valley sides of minor streams. This limited woodland together with overgrown hedges lends a wooded aspect to parts of the landscape. Stone is the chief building material, either cement-rendered or left bare. At the southern end of the area, away from the Teifi, locally-sourced stone is used. This is often rendered where used in housing, but left bare on agricultural outbuildings. Closer to the river Teifi valley slate dominates. Commercial, north Wales slate is the ubiquitous roofing material. The main building stock is 19th century, with most farmhouses probably dating to the latter half of the century, modest in size and in the typical southwest Wales style – two storey and three-bay with a central front door and five symmetrically arranged windows –a style that owes more to the ‘polite’ Georgian tradition than the vernacular. Nineteenth century farm outbuildings are likewise quite small, generally of one or two ranges, with cowhouses, stables and barns on most farms. Modern outbuildings, in the main, are not large although some very large examples are present. Some late 19th century workers’ houses, single-storeyed and two-storeyed, are dispersed close to the boundary of the Drefach – Felindre woollen industrial area. Pentrecagal, the only settlement cluster, consists of some late 19th century worker houses and late 20th century housing spreading along the A484. Worker houses, a public house, a petrol station and other low-key commercial developments lie alongside this main road to the west of Pentrecagal. Dolhaidd Mansion, a listed 19th century ‘Georgian’ building with earlier elements, is the largest building in this area. Its Home Farm, where some of the buildings have been converted to holiday use, lies a little distance from the mansion.  Most of the 63 archaeological sites record the use of a cottage or dwelling for weaving or other small-scale use associated with the 19th century woollen industry. The only other major, earlier archaeological sites are Tomen Seba - a medieval motte castle - and an Iron Age hillfort.

Bwlchydomen – Pentrecagal historic landscape character area is well-defined to the north where it borders the Teifi floodplain, to the east against the industrial villages of Drefach – Felindre, and to the south where it runs up against the higher, formerly unenclosed land. Definition is less satisfactory to the west where the landscape shares many similar components to that of Bwlchydomen – Pentrecagal.   

Sources: Cadw – database of Building of Special Architectural or Historic Interest; Carmarthen Record Office c/v 5885 Newcastle Emlyn Estate – The Property of John Vaughan 1778, maps 43, 47, 51, 54, 58, 62, 64; Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Jones, D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; King, D J C, 1988, Castellarium Anglicanum, New York; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Ludlow, N, 2002, ‘The Cadw Early Medieval Ecclesiastical Sites Project, Stage 1: Carmarthenshire’, unpublished report by Cambria Archaeology; Penboyr parish tithe map 1840; National Library of Wales Rev J C Davies Map Book 1793-1815; National Library of Wales Ms Vol 84 (PE965) Plan of Llangeler, Penboyr and Kilrhedin Inclosure 1866; Ramsey, R and Ludlow, N, 1999, ‘Blaen Bowi, Cenarth: proposed windfarm site, archaeological assessment’, unpublished report by Cambria Archaeology; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

RHYDDGOED

GRID REFERENCE: SN326390
AREA IN HECTARES: 221
Historic Background

This is a small area within modern Carmarthenshire consisting of a pocket of medium - large, fairly regular fields to the southwest of Newcastle Emlyn. It lies within the medieval Cantref Emlyn, in Emlyn Uwch-Cych commote. Cantref Emlyn had been partly brought under Anglo-Norman control in c.1100 when Emlyn Is-Cych commote to the west was reconstituted as the Lordship of Cilgerran. Numerous castles were established in Uwch-Cych comote - none of which has any recorded history - but the commote was back under Welsh control by the 1130s, where it remained throughout the 12th and early 13th centuries. Uwch-Cych commote was appropriated by the Anglo-Norman Marshal Earls of Pembroke in 1223, but was granted to Maredudd ap Rhys, with whose family it remained until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283, In 1536, it formed part of the Hundred of Elvet in Carmarthenshire. Uwch-Cych was granted to royal favourite Sir Rhys ap Thomas in the late 15th century, reverting to the crown in 1525, and granted in 1546 to Sir Thomas Jones of Haroldston, Pembrokeshire. It remained in this family for several generations, eventually passing by marriage to the Vaughans’ Golden Grove Estate, which in the 19th century still owned almost all the land on the southern side of the Teifi from Pentre-cwrt in the east to Cenarth in the west. The medieval Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees -  has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement within the region. 

Indeed, this area appears to have been largely unenclosed before the present pattern of medium - large, fairly regular fields was established in the late 18th early 19th centuries. Estate maps of 1778 show parts of this area unenclosed, with strips or ‘slangs’ marked in different ownership. These strips are probably not medieval in origin, and are certainly not the formal, arable open field strips characteristic of Anglo-Norman tenure. Instead, the strips appear to represent grazing rights assigned to neighbouring farms and it would seem that at least part of this area was open land, under multiple-ownership grazing, which underwent enclosure in the late 18th century. By the time the tithe map was drawn in 1840 all these strips had gone and the field pattern of today was in place. 

Description and essential historic landscape components

Rhyddgoed is a relatively small, agricultural historic landscape character area lying on gentle north- to northeast-facing slopes and ranging in height from 60m to 180m above sea level. It is characterised by medium- to large-sized fairly regularly shaped fields. Land-use is improved pasture. Boundaries are well-maintained hedges on earth banks. Except for hedgerow trees, shelter-belts close to farms, and larger bushes in the few overgrown hedges, it is a treeless landscape. The dispersed farms are small. Most buildings are 19th century and stone-built, with cement rendering on the dwellings. Farmhouses are in the typical southwest style of the period: two-storeyed, three-bayed with a central front door, and symmetrically arranged relatively large windows – a style that owes more to the ‘polite’ Georgian style than the vernacular tradition. One of the houses was rebuilt in the late 20th century. Nineteenth century farm outbuildings are also quite small and of one or two ranges. Most farms also have small ranges of modern outbuildings. Long straight sections of the B4333 cross this area. Apart from a ruined cottage, there are no recorded archaeological sites.
The main defining characteristics of this area are the larger, more regular fields than those of its neighbours. It is, however, not an easy area to define, and its neighbours share many of its historic landscape components.

Sources: Carmarthen Record Office c/v 5885 Newcastle Emlyn Estate – The Property of John Vaughan 1778; Craster, O E, 1957, Cilgerran Castle, London; Jones, D E, 1899, Hanes Plwyfi Llangeler a Phenboyr, Llandysul; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Lloyd, J E, 1935, A History of Carmarthenshire, Volume I, Cardiff; Penboyr parish tithe map 1840; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

HENLLAN

GRID REFERENCE: SN354408
AREA IN HECTARES: 167
Historic Background

This is a small area within modern Ceredigion, comprising the built-up area of Henllan village and its environs, on the north bank of the Afon Teifi at a point where the floodplain narrows. It lies within the medieval Cantref Is Aeron, in Gwynionydd commote. Old Ceredigion, including Gwynionydd, was briefly brought under Anglo-Norman control between 1110 and 1136, under the de Clare earls. It is probably during this period that most of the numerous castles within this Register Area were established, some of them possibly having been built during the Welsh reconquest of 1135-6. Few of them have any recorded history. The earthwork at Felin Cwrrws may be an early castle, but it is more likely to be Iron Age in origin, like the large multivallate hillfort south of Henllan itself. If it was re-used during the medieval period, it fell into disuse at an early date, and never became the focus for any later settlement, nucleated or otherwise. Nor did settlement develop around Henllan parish church, on the floodplain. The church is recorded in the late 12th century, but is almost certainly on an earlier medieval site, with a large circular churchyard of possible monastic origin. The church was was entirely rebuilt in the 19th century. The area remained in Welsh hands throughout the 12th and 13th centuries, until finally annexed by the English crown in 1283, when the county of Cardiganshire was created. Welsh tenurial pattern - with neither vills nor knight’s fees - has been largely responsible for the dispersed settlement pattern within the region. 

The Henllan village is entirely 19th and 20th century in origin and is not connected to the parish church, lying 0.5km to the northeast. The village is a similar distance from Henllan House, which is recorded as a late medieval gentry-house and water-mill site (corn mill). The character area is depicted in its present form on the Henllan parish tithe map of 1844, except for the village which did not then exist. Its development may have followed the establishment of two woollen mills, at Cwerchyr in 1840, and Trebedw in 1885, but they always remained peripheral to the main textile centre around Drefach-Felindre. The construction of the ‘Carmarthen-Cardigan’ railway line through the area - opened under the Great Western Railway in 1895 - and with a station at Henllan, clearly accelerated development, but it remained a relatively small village, comprising one street focused on the railway station. In c.1940, a camp was established for Italian prisoners-of-war on the southern approach to the village, eventually occupying 4.5ha and consisting of rows of Nissen Huts, most of which have now gone. The camp had largely become disused by 1944. Cwerchyr Mill closed in 1953, and Trebedw Mill in 1958, while the railway line and station closed in 1973. However, a short stretch of the line has been re-opened as a tourist attraction, the Teifi Valley Railway, and the P.O.W camp site is now used for caravans and camping, and a small industrial estate. 

Description and essential historic landscape components

Henllan is a small historic landscape character area located on a gently sloping south-facing valley side between 30m and 110m above sea level. It is a mixed area containing many disparate components, but essentially it consists of the late 19th century village of Henllan and the surrounding heavily wooded farmland. Henllan village, and its near but smaller neighbour Trebedw, are straggling linear villages, both late 19th century in character. Teifi valley slate, often cut and well-coursed rather than uncoursed rubble, is the main building material of the 19th century, sometime used in conjunction with yellow brick detailing, with north Wales slate for roofs. Worker houses are two storey, detached, semi-detached and terraced, as well single storey cottages. Henllan has a two storey single-built terrace with larger projecting end houses. There is also a corrugated iron church . Several small old industrial buildings are made of corrugated iron, particularly those associated with the railway, as are several agricultural buildings. Some of the original buildings belonging to the World War 2 prisoner-of-war camp on the outskirts of Henllan survive, including Nissen Huts and a unique, Grade II* listed corrugated iron chapel, converted from a dormitory block and decorated by the prisoners themselves. Most of the other buildings have gone. A section of the railway is preserved as a tourist line. Beyond the village, agricultural holdings are small, with houses and outbuildings dating to the late 19th century. The farmhouses are in the typical southwest style of the period: two storey, three bay with central front door and symmetrically arranged windows. Older outbuildings are stone-built and of one or two ranges. Corrugated iron outbuildings of late 19th and 20th century date are also present, as are small ranges of modern agricultural buildings. Hedges set on earth banks surround the medium-sized irregular fields. Many of the hedges are overgrown. Agricultural land-use is improved pasture and rougher ground. There is much deciduous woodland, some of which has probably regenerated over fields. Henllan parish church was entirely rebuilt during the 19th century. Two listed bridges, Pont Henllan and Pont Felin Cwrrws, lie within this area. In addition, archaeological sites include two Iron Age hillforts and the site of a corn mill.

The 19th century industrial settlements and heavily wooded landscape distinguish this area from its neighbours.
Sources: Cadw – database of Building of Special Architectural or Historic Interest; Henllan parish tithe map 1844; Gwili Railway, n.d., Guide to the Gwili Railway; Jenkins, J G, 1998 ‘Rural Industries in Cardiganshire’ in G H Jenkins and I G Jones, Cardiganshire County History Volume 3: Cardiganshire in Modern Times, 135-59, Cardiff; King, D J C, 1988, Castellarium Anglicanum, New York; Lewis, S, 1833, A Topographical Dictionary of Wales 1 & 2, London; Llandyfriog parish tithe map 1844; Llanfair Onllwyn parish tithe map 1844; Ludlow, N, 1994, ‘Aberbanc – Henllan Bridge watermain scheme: archaeological watching brief’, unpublished report by Cambria Archaeology; Ludlow, N, 2000 ‘The Cadw Welsh Historic Churches Project: Ceredigion Churches’, unpublished report by Cambria Archaeology; Ludlow, N, 2002, ‘The Cadw Early Medieval Ecclesiastical Sites Project, Stage 1: Ceredigion’, unpublished report by Cambria Archaeology; Meyrick, S R, 1810, The History and Antiquities of Cardiganshire, London; Rees, W, 1932, ‘Map of South Wales and the Border in the XIVth century’; Rees, W, 1951, An Historical Atlas of Wales, London; Regional Sites and Monuments Record housed with Cambria Archaeology

SUMMARIES

Drefach – Felindre is an industrial historic landscape character area based on the woollen industry. Stone-built mills, workers’ houses, owners’ houses, churches and chapels clustered in several villages attest to the rapid expansion of this industry in the late 19th century and early 20th century.

Deciduous woodland on steep valley sides above the industrial settlements of Drefach and Felindre characterises the Dyffryn Bargoed and Dyffryn Esgair historic landscape character area.

The Afon Teifi: Newcastle Emlyn – Llandysul historic landscape character area comprises the rich pasture of the floodplain. There are no houses but two 18th century stone bridges are included.

Small regular fields created by an Act of Parliament in 1855 and deciduous woodland characterise the relatively small Coed Mawr historic landscape character area. 

Dispersed farms within a landscape of pasture fields with deciduous woodland on steeper slopes and a few late 19th century woollen mills and workers’ houses close to the Afon Teifi characterise the Llangeler historic landscape character area.

Although small farms, cottages and other buildings testify to its 19th century origins, the Saron –Rhos historic landscape character area is overwhelmingly characterised by modern linear housing development stretching for several kilometres along the main A484 road.

The Bwlch-Clawdd – Cwmbach historic landscape character area appears to have developed during the late 18th century when farms and small fields were established on   open moorland. Most buildings in the area are modern. Two Bronze Age round barrows and the early medieval Clawdd-Mawr dyke are included in this area.

An 1866 Act of Parliament enclosing open moorland into fields created much of today’s Rhos Penboyr historic landscape character area. Small farms, coniferous plantations, a  World War 2 ‘stop line’ and three wind turbines have been subsequently established. 

The Waunfawr historic landscape character area largely results from an 1866 Act of Parliament enclosing moorland in regular fields and bisecting it with straight lanes. Small farms were later established. Two Bronze Age round barrows survive from a much earlier age.

A close distribution of small farms in a landscape of fields bounded by hedges on banks characterises the Penboyr historic landscape character area. Apart from a few modern houses, almost all the buildings in this area date to the 19th century.

Dispersed farms, fields and deciduous woodland on steep valley sides, with a scatter of late 19th century workers’ houses close to Drefach-Felindre characterise the Bwlchydomen-Pentrecagal historic landscape character area.

Rhyddgoed is a relatively small historic landscape character area and consists of regularly shaped fields and dispersed farms. Most buildings date to the 19th century.

Henllan is a small but complex historic landscape character area comprising a 19th century village focused on an old railway (now a tourist line) and a World War 2 prisoner of war camp, now largely converted to other uses, surrounded by deciduous woodland and farmland.


